

Mobile primary health care clinics for Indigenous populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States: a scoping review protocol

Hannah Beks¹ • Geraldine Ewing¹ • Rebecca Muir² • James Charles³ • Yin Paradies⁴ • Robyn Clark⁵ • Vincent L. Versace¹

¹Deakin Rural Health, Deakin University, Warrnambool, Australia, ²Deakin University Library, Deakin University, Warrnambool, Australia, ³Institute of Koorie Education and School of Medicine, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia, ⁴Faculty of Arts and Education, Deakin University, Burwood, Australia, and ⁵College of Nursing and Health Sciences, Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia

ABSTRACT

Objective: The objective of this review is to explore and examine the available evidence on mobile primary health care clinics for Indigenous populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States.

Introduction: Despite the evidence for the effectiveness of primary health care in improving health outcomes, accessing primary care services is often problematic for Indigenous populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States. Improving the accessibility of primary health care services for Indigenous populations is considered essential to alleviating the burden of disease and improving well-being.

Inclusion criteria: The review will consider literature that discusses the implementation of a mobile primary health clinic for Indigenous populations. Mobile primary health care clinics targeting Indigenous populations of any and all ages will be included in this review. Transportable clinics (e.g. van, truck or bus) fitted with health care equipment that delivers health services in a defined geographical area will be included. Only literature published in English from 1 January 2006 will be included.

Methods: Ovid MEDLINE, CINAHL, Embase, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews and SocINDEX will be searched, as well as gray literature sources. The full-text of selected literature will be retrieved and assessed in detail against the inclusion criteria by two independent reviewers. Data will be extracted by two independent reviewers, and a narrative summary will be provided on the objectives, concepts and results of the review question.

Keywords Global health; health services; indigenous health; mobile health clinics; primary health care

JBIR Database System Rev Implement Rep 2019; 17(0):1–14.

Introduction

Accessible primary health care services are an inherent human right for all populations, as stipulated by the Declaration of Alma-Ata (1978).¹ Despite the evidence for the effectiveness of primary health care in improving health outcomes, accessing primary care services is often problematic for Indigenous populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States.^{2–4} Defined internationally as essential health care, primary health care forms the frontline of the health system and delivers a range of

services to improve health and wellbeing across the lifespan.^{1,5} Examples of services include health promotion, child and maternal health, disease prevention (primary and secondary), and chronic disease management.⁵ Evidence supports the effectiveness of primary health care services in improving health outcomes by addressing disease risk factors,^{6,7} improving maternal and child health outcomes,⁸ and enhancing the management of chronic disease across a range of contexts.⁹

Indigenous populations across the globe are culturally and linguistically diverse, with differing environmental contexts (e.g. climate), cultural practices (e.g. lore, customs), and ancestry.² Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States are nations that share similarities in the history of

Correspondence: Vincent L. Versace, vincent.versace@deakin.edu.au

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

DOI: 10.11124/JBIR-D-19-00057

colonization and discrimination endured by Indigenous populations, resulting in ongoing trauma and poor health outcomes.¹⁰ Although Indigenous populations in these nations constitute a small proportion of the total population (approximately 3%, 2.5%, 14.9% and 2% of the total Australian, Canadian, New Zealand and United States populations, respectively), they experience a greater burden of preventable chronic disease, such as type two diabetes and cardiovascular disease.^{2,11} As a result of these health inequities, Indigenous populations have a higher premature mortality rate than their non-Indigenous counterparts.¹¹⁻¹³ Similar disadvantage exists when accessing primary health care services.² Key issues include geographical distance from services, expenses associated with health care, transport barriers, distrust of the health system, a paucity of publicly funded health services, a lack of cultural safety and cultural competency, as well as explicit and implicit racism and discrimination.^{2,4,14-17}

Improving the accessibility of primary health care services for Indigenous populations is considered essential to alleviating the burden of disease and improving wellbeing.² For example, there is evidence that strengthening the provision of cardiovascular disease prevention services in remote Indigenous communities in Australia enables Indigenous people to achieve cardiovascular risk reduction targets.¹⁸ Accessibility is a multi-dimensional concept that has evolved to encompass a range of social, cultural, economic and physical factors which affect people's ability to access health care.¹⁹ It is well established that in order to be accessible, health services need to be physically approachable, available, affordable, culturally appropriate and acceptable.²⁰ Known interventions for improving accessibility include the provision of local health services, nurse-led clinics, telehealth models of care, flexible clinic locations, home visits and mitigating the financial burden of out of pocket expenses.²⁰ Internationally, mobile health care clinics have been implemented as a strategy to provide underserved or otherwise marginalized population groups with geographically accessible and cost-effective primary health care.²¹⁻²³ Research examining the consumer experience of mobile health care clinics demonstrates satisfaction with this model of health care,^{21,24} yet there is a paucity of available evidence supporting how mobile clinics improve service accessibility and health outcomes.^{23,25}

Although mobile health care clinics are one potential strategy to improve the geographical accessibility of primary health care services for Indigenous populations, little is documented about them in the peer-reviewed literature. Literature referring to mobile clinics implemented for Indigenous populations is predominately descriptive in nature^{26,27} with few studies providing evaluative data.²⁸⁻³⁰ Numerous mobile clinics implemented for Indigenous populations can also be found in gray literature and through Indigenous health service web pages,³¹⁻³⁴ but this does not provide insight into how widespread the use of mobile health clinics targeting Indigenous communities is. Furthermore, it is not known how these clinics have contributed to improving the accessibility of health services, and by extension, their success in improving Indigenous health outcomes.

There is, however, strong evidence to support the need for geographically and culturally accessible health care services for Indigenous populations.^{20,35} Evidence from Canada indicates that primary health care services delivered on-reserve result in lower rates of hospitalization for chronic, vaccine preventable and acute conditions in Indigenous populations.³⁶ Likewise, on-reserve diabetes screening and management delivered by a mobile clinic has been shown to improve clinical indicators of diabetes longitudinally, in a sample of First Nations people.²⁹ This indicates that health services delivered in close proximity to Indigenous populations can improve health outcomes. Additionally, evidence supports the efficacy of Indigenous-governed primary health care services in delivering culturally appropriate care.^{14,37} Embedded in the principles of self-determination, Indigenous-governed primary health care services are able to offer health care to Indigenous populations based on a shared cultural understanding.^{1,14,15,38,39} Key characteristics of Indigenous-governed health services that are valued by Indigenous people include a holistic approach to health care delivered by Indigenous health workers, a community capacity-building approach to the provision of care, the incorporation of local knowledge, values and perspectives and the use of local language.^{14,40} These factors highlight the potential for Indigenous-governed mobile clinics to improve the geographical and cultural accessibility of primary health care services for Indigenous populations, and therefore, improve health outcomes.

In the literature focusing on the health and well-being of Indigenous populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States, there has been an increase in the implementation of community-based health programs⁴¹ and participatory research projects^{42,43} aiming to improve the health of Indigenous people. For example, efforts have focused on increasing the engagement of Indigenous communities in health research and the development of culturally safe health programs.^{42,43} Often embedded in participatory paradigms, these projects have recognized the need to work in partnership with Indigenous populations in order to improve health outcomes, and by doing so, generate evidence for successful strategies that may be implemented in other Indigenous contexts.⁴³

There is also a large body of international literature focusing broadly on the provision of primary health care to Indigenous populations.^{14,35,44-46} This includes barriers to accessing primary health care services,^{4,14,35} community developed strategies to improve the provision of primary health care,^{29,47,48} and the impact of community-based primary health services on clinical outcomes.^{36,49-51} However, it is not known where mobile primary health care clinics delivering services to Indigenous communities have been implemented. Furthermore, it is not known whether these mobile clinics have been effective in improving service accessibility and health outcomes for Indigenous populations. It is this knowledge gap that justifies the need for this review. The findings from this review will be used to inform subsequent research seeking to evaluate the effectiveness of mobile health clinics in improving health outcomes for Indigenous communities.

A preliminary search for existing reviews on this topic was conducted in PubMed, *JBIR Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports* and PROSPERO. No reviews examining the use of mobile primary health care clinics specifically for Indigenous populations were identified. A review exploring primary health care models within the Australian Indigenous context was identified.³⁸ In this review, there was no discussion regarding the use of a mobile primary health care models.³⁸ A literature review examining models of mobile health care in the United States was also located, but there was no focus on models targeting Indigenous populations.²³

Review question

What is the evidence surrounding the use of mobile primary healthcare clinics implemented for Indigenous populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States?

Specific objectives are to:

- i. Scope the models of mobile primary health care clinics for Indigenous populations (in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States) as described in the literature.
- ii. Determine geographically where mobile primary health care clinics for Indigenous populations (in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States) have been implemented.
- iii. Examine the findings of any evaluations of mobile primary health care clinics for Indigenous populations (in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States) that have been published in the literature.

Inclusion criteria

Participants

The review will consider literature that discusses the implementation of mobile primary health clinics for Indigenous populations. The terms “Indigenous people” and “Indigenous communities” will also be used when referring to specific tribal groups or clans. Often these terms are used interchangeably in the literature with “Indigenous populations”. The definition of “Indigenous populations” provided by the World Health Organization will be used for the purpose of this review.⁵² This defines Indigenous populations as:

“communities that live within, or are attached to, geographically distinct traditional habitats or ancestral territories, and who identify themselves as being part of a distinct cultural group, descended from groups present in the area before modern states were created and current borders defined”.^{52(para.1)}

For each country, this includes: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people (Australia), First Nations, Inuit, and Métis people (Canada), Māori people (New Zealand) and Native American, Native Hawaiian and Alaskan Native people (United States).

Mobile primary health care clinics targeting Indigenous populations of any and all ages (e.g.

infants, children, adolescents and adults) will be included in this review.

Concept

The review will determine geographically where mobile primary health care clinics targeting Indigenous populations have been implemented and scope models described in the literature. Universal mobile primary health care clinics that were not specifically implemented for Indigenous populations will be excluded from this review.

For the purpose of this review, mobile clinics will include a transportable clinic (e.g. van, truck or bus) that has been equipped with health care equipment and delivers health services in a defined geographical area. This will exclude teams of health professionals who travel to fixed health care clinics (e.g. visiting outreach services) without an equipped clinic bus, truck or van. This will also exclude the delivery of health care services remotely using mobile technology (e.g. mobile health services).

Furthermore, this review will also examine the evaluation of these models (if available). Evaluation involves an assessment of the outcomes of an intervention against the intervention's objectives.⁵³ Models evaluated by any party to any level will be included (i.e. pilot studies, feasibility studies, impact, outcome and process evaluations), in addition to models that have not been evaluated.

Context

Mobile primary health care clinics implemented within the Australian, New Zealand, Canadian or United States health care context across all geographical areas will be included in this review. This will include mobile clinics that are part of a fixed primary health care service (e.g. Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organization) or other health care organizations including hospitals and other community-based health care services (i.e. Non-government organizations).

The definition of primary health care, as applied by other reviews^{14,38} and research focusing on the delivery of primary health care services⁵⁴ to Indigenous populations, will be used:

“...socially appropriate, universally accessible, scientifically sound first level care provided by health services and systems with a suitably trained workforce comprised of multi-disciplinary teams

supported by integrated referral systems in a way that: gives priority to those most in need and addresses health inequalities; maximizes community and individual self-reliance, participation and control; and involves collaboration and partnership with other sectors to promote public health. Comprehensive primary health care includes health promotion, illness prevention, treatment and care of the sick, community development and advocacy and rehabilitation”.^{5(p.1)}

Primary health care teams consist of general practitioners, nurses and allied health professionals.⁵ Therefore, mobile primary health care clinics will involve communicable (e.g. infectious disease) and non-communicable (e.g. lifestyle induced disease) disease prevention (e.g. health promotion, primary and secondary prevention) and management (e.g. chronic disease self-management) activities delivered at multiple locations within a specified region. Mobile health care clinics delivering only specialist services (e.g. cardiovascular specialist outreach services) or rehabilitation services will be excluded from this review. However, clinics delivering both specialist and primary care services will be included.

Types of studies

To align with the review question and objectives, this review will include all literature discussing or evaluating the implementation of a mobile primary health care clinic targeting Indigenous populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States. This review will consider both experimental and quasi-experimental study designs including randomized controlled trials, non-randomized controlled trials, before and after studies, and interrupted time-series studies. In addition, analytical observational studies including prospective and retrospective cohort studies, case-control studies, and analytical cross-sectional studies will be considered for inclusion. This review will also consider descriptive observational study designs including case series, individual case reports, descriptive cross-sectional studies and mixed methods studies for inclusion. Qualitative studies, including but not limited to, descriptive, phenomenological, grounded-theory and ethnographic studies evaluating the experience of participants utilizing a mobile primary health care clinic will also be considered for inclusion.

Non-peer reviewed articles, such as gray literature, will also be used in order to minimize any publication biases. Thus, this review will consider any form of literature (i.e. newspaper article, media release, web page, report, dissertation or book) relevant to the topic.

Only literature published in English will be included due to resource constraints of the review. Literature published from 1 January 2006 will be included. Since 2006, there has been a greater focus on the rights of Indigenous populations and the need to work in partnership with Indigenous communities to improve health outcomes.⁵⁵ Examples of key policy implemented during this period include the “United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples” (2007),⁵⁶ which stipulates access to health care and self-determination as a right for Indigenous peoples, and “Closing the Gap” (2007)⁵⁷ in which the Australian Government committed to improving the health of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

Methods

The proposed scoping review will be conducted in accordance with JBI methodology for scoping reviews.⁵⁸

Search strategy

The search strategy will aim to find both published and unpublished literature. The JBI three-stage search strategy will be used to develop searches. The first stage will involve an initial limited search of MEDLINE and CINAHL to identify key words contained in the text and title of relevant literature. These key words will be used with index terms to develop a search strategy for each database and gray literature source. The second stage will use all identified key words and index terms to tailor the search to each information source. A full search strategy for MEDLINE is detailed in Appendix I. The third stage will involve a search of the reference lists of included citations for additional literature. Where appropriate, authors may be contacted for additional literature.

Information sources

The databases to be searched include: Ovid MEDLINE, CINAHL (EBSCOhost), Embase (Elsevier), Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews and SocINDEX (EBSCOhost).

The search for unpublished studies and gray literature will include: Australian, Canadian, New Zealand and United States Indigenous-specific research websites, Indigenous organization websites, health services and health research websites, rural, remote and mobile health research websites and open access websites, repositories and catalogues.

A full list of unpublished sources to be searched is provided in Appendix II.

Study selection

Following the search, all identified citations will be collated and uploaded into EndNote X7.5 (Clarivate Analytics, PA, USA) and duplicates removed. Titles and abstracts will then be screened by two independent reviewers (HB, GE) for assessment against the inclusion criteria for the review. Literature that may meet the inclusion criteria will be retrieved in full and their details imported into Covidence (Covidence, Melbourne, Australia). Covidence is a tool for importing retrieved citations and undertaking the review screening process.

The full text of selected literature will be retrieved and assessed in detail against the inclusion criteria. Full text papers that do not meet the inclusion criteria will be excluded and reasons for exclusion will be provided in an appendix in the final systematic review report. The results of the search will be reported in full in the final report and presented in a Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram.⁵⁹ Any disagreements that arise between the reviewers will be resolved through discussion, or with a third reviewer (RM).

Data extraction

Data will be extracted from papers included in the review using the data extraction tool developed for this scoping review, by two independent reviewers (HB, GE) (Appendix III). This tool may be modified depending on the nature of literature retrieved. Descriptors of the research will be extracted and will include the author(s), year of publication, name of the mobile primary health care clinic, name of the service provider and geographical region of the clinic. Additional information pertaining to the clinic model will include targeted population (e.g. indigenous children), services provided (e.g. health promotion, disease prevention, and/or chronic disease management), whether there is Indigenous community involvement in the delivery of

the model and evaluation methods used (if any), including participant sample and evaluation outcomes. Any disagreements that arise between the reviewers will be resolved through discussion or with a third reviewer (RM). Authors of papers will be contacted to request missing or additional data, where required.

Presentation of results

A narrative summary will be provided on the objectives, concepts and results of the review question. This will include a discussion of the extracted mobile primary health care models and whether an evaluation of the described model has been conducted. The geographical region of where the mobile clinic was implemented will be plotted using either the geographical coordinates included in the original source or assigning coordinates based upon localities described. This approach has been used in other scoping reviews exploring health programs in the Indigenous context.⁶⁰ A geographical analysis of the location of extracted papers will be undertaken using a Geographical Information System (GIS) program, ArcGIS ArcMap 10.6.1 (ESRI, CA, USA) and will be included in the review. This GIS program allows researchers to visualize, explore and model multiple layers of data on a map, and subsequently identify relationships between variables. Extracted information will be presented in a data extraction table (Appendix III) and any additional information will be categorized appropriately at the time of the review.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the contribution of Deakin University librarians, Fiona Russell and Blair Kelly, in providing guidance on the development of the initial search strategy and use of databases for the scoping review.

Funding

This scoping review is part of a larger project that has received funding from Deakin University, through the Australian Government Department of Health Rural Health Multidisciplinary Training (RHMT) program, and the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet (Indigenous Affairs).

References

1. UNICEF, World Health Organization, International Conference on Primary Health Care. Declaration of Alma-Ata: International Conference on Primary Health Care [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1978 [cited 2019 Jan 10]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/almaata_declaration_en.pdf.
2. Pulver L, Ring I, Waldon W, Whetung V, Kinnon D, Graham C *et al*. Indigenous Health – Australia, Canada, Aotearoa New Zealand and the United States - Laying claim to a future that embraces health for us all [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 [cited 2019 Jan 11]. Available from: <https://www.who.int/healthsystems/topics/financing/healthreport/IHNo33.pdf>.
3. U.S. Commission on Civil Rights. Broken Promises: Evaluating the Native American Health Care System [Internet]. Washington: U.S. Commission on Civil Rights; 2004 [cited 2019 Jan 12]. Available from: <https://www2.law.umaryland.edu/marshall/usccr/documents/cr122004024431draft.pdf>.
4. Lee R, North N. Barriers to Maori sole mothers' primary health care access. *J Prim Health Care* 2013;5(4):315–21.
5. Primary Health Care Research and Information Service. Primary Health Care Matters [Internet]. Adelaide: Primary Health Care Research & Information Service; 2014 [cited 2019 Jan 13]. Available from: https://dspace.flinders.edu.au/xmlui/bitstream/handle/2328/36334/factsheet_primary%20health%20care.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
6. Álvarez-Bueno C, Rodríguez-Martín B, García-Ortiz L, Gómez-Marcos MÁ, Martínez-Vizcaino V. Effectiveness of brief interventions in primary health care settings to decrease alcohol consumption by adult non-dependent drinkers: a systematic review of systematic reviews. *Prev Med* 2015;76(Suppl 1):33–8.
7. Mitchell L, Ball L, Ross L, Barnes K, Williams L. Effectiveness of Dietetic Consultations in Primary Health Care: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *J Acad Nutr Diet* 2017;117(12):1941–62.
8. Black R, Taylor C, Arole S, Bang A, Bhutta Z, Chowdhury A, *et al*. Comprehensive review of the evidence regarding the effectiveness of community-based primary health care in improving maternal, neonatal and child health. *J Glob Health* 2017;7(1):433–44.
9. Reynolds R, Dennis S, Hasan I, Slewa J, Chen W, Tian D, *et al*. A systematic review of chronic disease management interventions in primary care. *BMC Fam Pract* 2018;19(1):1–13.
10. Paradies Y. Colonisation, racism and indigenous health. *J Popul Res* 2016;33(1):83–96.
11. Anderson I, Robson B, Connolly M, Al-Yaman F, Bjertness E, King A, *et al*. Indigenous and tribal peoples' health (The Lancet–Lowitja Institute Global Collaboration): a population study. *Lancet* 2016;388(10040):131–57.
12. Martens PJ, Sanderson D, Jebamani L. Health Services Use of Manitoba First Nations People: Is It Related to Underlying Need? *Can J Public Health* 2005;96(Suppl 1):39–44.
13. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Indian Health Service. Trends in Indian Health, 2014 Edition

- [Internet]. Rockville: Indian Health Service; 2014 [cited 2019 Jan 13]. Available from: https://www.ihs.gov/dps/includes/themes/responsive2017/display_objects/documents/Trends2014Book508.pdf.
14. Davy C, Harfield S, McArthur A, Munn Z, Brown A. Access to primary health care services for Indigenous peoples: A framework synthesis. *Int J Equity Health* 2016;15(1):1–9.
 15. Hayman N. Strategies to Improve Indigenous Access for Urban and Regional Populations to Health Services. *Heart Lung Circ* 2010;19(5):367–71.
 16. Paradies Y. Racism and Indigenous Health [Internet]. Oxford: Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Global Public Health; 2018 [cited 2019 Jan 10]. Available from: <http://oxfordre.com/publichealth/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190632366.001.0001/acrefore-9780190632366-e-86>.
 17. Wain T, Sim M, Bessarab D, Mak D, Hayward C, Rudd C. Engaging Australian Aboriginal narratives to challenge attitudes and create empathy in health care: a methodological perspective. *BMC Med Educ* 2016;16(1):1–7.
 18. Burgess C, Sinclair G, Ramjan M, Coffey P, Connors C, Katekar L. Strengthening Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Remote Indigenous Communities in Australia's Northern Territory. *Heart. Lung and Circulation* 2015;24(1):450–7.
 19. Barwick H. Improving access to primary care for Maori, and Pacific peoples [Internet]. New Zealand: Health Funding Authority; 2000 [cited 2019 Jan 14]. Available from: <http://www.hauora.co.nz/assets/files/PHO%20Info/HFAim-improvingaccess%20to%20PC%20for%20Maori%20and%20-Pacific.pdf>.
 20. Ware V. Improving the accessibility of health services in urban and regional settings for Indigenous people [Internet]. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2013 [cited 2019 Jan 12]. Available from: <https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/186eb114-8fc8-45cc-acef-30f6d05a9c0c/ctgc-rs27.pdf.aspx>.
 21. Aljasir B, Alghamdi M. Patient satisfaction with mobile clinic services in a remote rural area of Saudi Arabia. *East Mediterr Health J* 2010;16(10):1085–90.
 22. Neke N, Wasem J, Gadau G. Policy makers' perspective on the provision of maternal health services via mobile health clinics in Tanzania—Findings from key informant interviews. *PLoS ONE* 2018;13(9):e0203588.
 23. Yu S, Hill C, Ricks M, Bennet J, Oriol N. The scope and impact of mobile health clinics in the United States: a literature review. *Int J Equity Health* 2017;16(1):1–12.
 24. Bouchelle Z, Rawlins Y, Hill C, Bennet J, Perez L, Oriol N. Preventative health, diversity, and inclusion: a qualitative study of client experience aboard a mobile health clinic in Boston, Massachusetts. *Int J Equity Health* 2017;16(1):1–10.
 25. Carey T, Sirett D, Russell D, Humphreys J, Wakerman J. What is the overall impact or effectiveness of visiting primary health care services in rural and remote communities in high-income countries? A systematic review. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2018;18(1):1–8.
 26. Bylander J. Propping Up Indian Health Care Through Medicaid. *Health Aff* 2017;36(8):1360–4.
 27. Smith A, Armfield N, Wu W, Brown C, Perry C. A mobile telemedicine-enabled ear screening service for Indigenous children in Queensland: activity and outcomes in the first three years. *J Telemed Telecare* 2012;18(8):485–9.
 28. Ballestas T, McEvoy S, Swift-Otero V, Unsworth M. A metropolitan Aboriginal podiatry and diabetes outreach clinic to ameliorate foot-related complications in Aboriginal people. *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2014;38(5):492–3.
 29. Oster R, Shade S, Strong D, Toth L. Improvements in indicators of diabetes-related health status among first nations individuals enrolled in a community-driven diabetes complications mobile screening program in Alberta, Canada. *Can J Public Health* 2010;101(5):410–4.
 30. Conway J, Lawn S, Crail S, McDonald S. Indigenous patient experiences of returning to country: a qualitative evaluation on the Country Health SA Dialysis bus. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2018;18(1):1–13.
 31. Evins B. Colourful health bus provides medical services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders in remote areas [Internet]. Riverland: Australian Broadcasting Commission; 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 15]. Available from: <https://mobile.abc.net.au/news/2018-04-04/aboriginal-health-bus-building-trust-riverland/9601270?pfmredir=sm>
 32. Ritchie P. Mobile eye clinic a hit at Indigenous facilities [Internet]. Melbourne: Optometry Australia; 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 16]. Available from: <http://www.optometry.org.au/blog-news/2018/1/29/mobile-eye-clinic-a-hit-at-indigenous-facilities/>.
 33. Turanga Health. Programmes - Mobile care [Internet]. Te Karaka: Turanga Health; 2018 [cited 2019 Jan 14]. Available from: <http://www.turangahealth.co.nz/programmes.html>.
 34. Vikander T. Judgement-free mobile clinic will provide health care to hard-to-reach women [Internet]. Vancouver: The Star; 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 15]. Available from: <https://www.thestar.com/vancouver/2018/07/11/new-mobile-clinic-will-provide-health-care-to-women-in-the-downtown-eastside-who-may-fear-medical-offices-or-hospitals.html>.
 35. Gibson O, Lisy K, Davy C, Aromataris E, Kite E, Lockwood C, et al. Enablers and barriers to the implementation of primary health care interventions for Indigenous people with chronic diseases: a systematic review. *Implement Sci* 2015;10(1):1–11.
 36. Lavoie J, Forget E, Prakash T, Dahl M, Martens P, O'Neil J. Have investments in on-reserve health services and initiatives promoting community control improved First Nations' health in Manitoba? *Soc Sci Med* 2010;71(4):717–24.
 37. Dwyer J, O'Donnell K, Willis E, Kelly J. Equitable Care for Indigenous People: every health service can do it. *Asia Pac J Health Manag* 2016;11(3):11–7.
 38. Harfield S, Davy C, McArthur A, Munn Z, Brown A, Brown N. Characteristics of Indigenous primary health care service delivery models: a systematic scoping review. *Global Health* 2018;14(1):1–11.

39. Panaretto K, Dellit A, Hollins A, Wason G, Sidhom C, Chilcott K, *et al.* Understanding patient access patterns for primary health-care services for Aboriginal and Islander people in Queensland: a geospatial mapping approach. *Aust J Prim Health* 2017;23(1):37–45.
40. Kelaher M, Sabanovic H, La Brooy C, Lock M, Lusher D, Brown L. Does more equitable governance lead to more equitable health care? A case study based on the implementation of health reform in Aboriginal health Australia. *Soc Sci Med* 2014;123(1):278–86.
41. Mathieson F, Mihaere K, Collings S, Dowell A, Stanley J. Maori cultural adaptation of a brief mental health intervention in primary care. *J Prim Health Care* 2012;4(3):231–8.
42. Jemigan V, Jacob T, Styne D. The Adaptation and Implementation of a Community-Based Participatory Research Curriculum to Build Tribal Research Capacity. *Am J Public Health* 2015;105(Suppl 3):424–32.
43. Jainullabudeen T, Lively A, Singleton M, Shakeshaft A, Tsey K, McCalman J, *et al.* The impact of a community-based risky drinking intervention (Beat da Binge) on Indigenous young people. *BMC Public Health* 2015;15(1):1–7.
44. Canuto K, Brown A, Wittert G, Harfield S. Understanding the utilization of primary health care services by Indigenous men: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 2018;18(1):1–12.
45. Gomersall J, Gibson O, Dwyer J, O'Donnell K, Stephenson M, Carter D, *et al.* What Indigenous Australian clients value about primary health care: a systematic review of qualitative evidence. *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2017;41(4):417–23.
46. Lavoie J, Kornelsen D, Wylie L, Mignone J, Dwyer J, Boyer Y, *et al.* Responding to health inequities: Indigenous health system innovations. *Glob Health Epidemiol Genom* 2016;1:e14.
47. Abel S, Marshall B, Riki D, Luscombe T. Evaluation of Tu Meke PHO's Wairua Tangata Programme: a primary mental health initiative for underserved communities. *J Prim Health Care* 2012;4(3):242–8.
48. Reeve C, Humphreys J, Wakerman J, Carroll V, Carter M, O'Brien T, *et al.* Community participation in health service reform: the development of an innovative remote Aboriginal primary health-care service. *Aust J Prim Health* 2015;21(4):409–16.
49. Gibson O, Segal L. Limited evidence to assess the impact of primary health care system or service level attributes on health outcomes of Indigenous people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2015;15(1):1–13.
50. Avey J, Dirks L, Dillard D, Manson S, Merrick M, Smith J, *et al.* Depression management interests among Alaska Native and American Indian adults in primary care. *J Affect Disord* 2018;239(1):214–9.
51. Campbell M, Hunt J, Scrimgeour D, Davey M, Jones V. Contribution of Aboriginal Community-Controlled Health Services to improving Aboriginal health: an evidence review. *Aust Health Rev* 2018;42(2):218–26.
52. World Health Organization. Indigenous populations [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 10]. Available from: http://www.who.int/topics/health_services_indigenous/en/.
53. Hudson, S. Evaluating Indigenous programs: a toolkit for change [Internet]. Sydney: The Centre for Independent Studies; 2017 [cited 2019 Jan 17]. Available from: <https://www.cis.org.au/app/uploads/2017/06/rr28.pdf>.
54. Thomas S, Wakerman J, Humphreys J. What core primary health care services should be available to Australians living in rural and remote communities? *BMC fam pract* 2014;15(143):1–9.
55. The International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs. The Indigenous World [Internet]. Copenhagen: The International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs; 2006 [cited 2019 Jan 11]. Available from: https://www.iwgia.org/images/publications/IW_2006.pdf.
56. United Nations General Assembly. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples [Internet]. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2008 [cited 2019 Jan 13]. Available from: https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf.
57. Australian Human Rights Commission. Close the Gap: Indigenous Health Campaign [Internet]. Sydney: Australian Human Rights Commission; 2018 [cited 2019 Jan 22]. Available from: <https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-social-justice/projects/close-gap-indigenous-health>.
58. Peters MDJ, Godfrey C, Mclnerney P, Baldini Soares C, Khalil H, Parker D. Chapter 11: Scoping Reviews. In: Aromataris E, Munn Z (Editors). *Joanna Briggs Institute Reviewer's Manual* [Internet]. Adelaide: Joanna Briggs Institute, 2017 [cited 2019 Jan 22]. Available from: <https://reviewersmanual.joannabriggs.org/>.
59. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman D. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Ann Intern Med* 2009;151(4):264–9.
60. Beks H, Binder M, Kourbelis C, May N, Clark R, Hudson K, *et al.* Geographical analysis of evaluated chronic disease programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in the primary healthcare setting: a scoping review protocol. *JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep* 2018;16(12):2268–78.

Appendix I: Ovid MEDLINE search strategy

Ovid MEDLINE(R) In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Ovid MEDLINE(R)

1	(Australia* or Tasmania* or Victoria* or New South Wales* or Queensland* or Northern Territory* or Western Australia* or South Australia*).tw,kf. or exp Australia/
2	(Aborig* or First People* or First Nation*1 or Indigenous or Native* or Islander* or “Torres Strait Islander” or Tribe* or Tribal).tw,kf.
3	Oceanic Ancestry Group/ or Health Services, Indigenous/
4	2 or 3
5	1 and 4
6	(New Zealand* or Northland or Auckland or Waikato or Bay of Plenty or Gisborne or Hawkes Bay or Taranaki or Whanganui or Manawatu or Wellington or Marlborough or Nelson or Tasman or West Coast or Canterbury or Otago or Southland).tw,kf. or exp New Zealand/
7	(Aborig* or First People* or First Nation*1 or Indigenous or Native* or Maori or Iwi or Hapu or Tribe* or Tribal).tw,kf.
8	Oceanic Ancestry Group/ or Health services, Indigenous/
9	7 or 8
10	6 and 9
11	(North America* or United States or USA or American).tw,kf. or exp United States/
12	Canada*.tw,kf. or exp Canada/
13	11 or 12
14	(Native or Indigenous or First Nation*1 or First People* or Tribe* or Tribal or Indian*1 or Nation*1 or Inuit* or Aborig*).tw,kf.
15	Indians, North American/ or Alaska Natives/ or Inuits/ or Health services, Indigenous/
16	14 or 15
17	13 and 16
18	5 or 10 or 17
19	mobile health unit/
20	(mobile outreach or mobile outreach clinic*1 or mobile health or mobile clinic*1 or mobile health clinic*1 or mobile health care clinic*1 or mobile primary health care clinic*1 or mobile unit*1 or mobile health unit*1 or mobile health care unit*1 or mobile primary health care unit*1 or mobile facilit*3 or mobile health facilit*3 or mobile health care facilit*3 or mobile primary health care facilit*3).tw,kf.
21	((health adj3 van) or (health adj3 bus)).tw,kf.
22	19 or 20 or 21

23	(ambulatory health service*1 or ambulatory health care service*1 or ambulatory primary health care service*1).tw,kf or Ambulatory care/ or exp Ambulatory care facilities/
24	(health service*1 access or health service*1 accessibility or health care service*1 access or health care service*1 accessibility).tw,kf. or exp Delivery of health care/
25	exp Health promotion/ or exp Population health/ or exp Primary health care/
26	24 or 25
27	(mobile or mobiles or wheel based or travelling or outreach).tw,kf.
28	26 and 27
29	22 or 23 or 28
30	18 and 29
31	(disaster or disaster relief or disaster response).tw,kf.
32	(animals not (humans and animals)).sh.
33	31 or 32
34	30 not 33
35	limit 34 to yr="2006-Current"

Appendix II: Unpublished information sources

Source	Website
Australian and New Zealand Indigenous-specific research	
Lowitja Institute	https://www.lowitja.org.au/
Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies	https://aiatsis.gov.au/
Indigenous Healthinonet	https://healthinonet.ecu.edu.au/
Closing the Gap	https://closingthegap.pmc.gov.au/
National Aboriginal Community Controlled Organization (NACCHO)	https://www.naccho.org.au/
Māori Health Clearinghouse	https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/populations/maori-health
Whakauae Research for Maori Health and Development	https://www.whakauae.co.nz/
United States and Canadian Indigenous-specific research	
Indigenous Studies Portal	https://iportal.usask.ca/
Canadian Institute of Indigenous Peoples' Health	http://www.cihir-irsc.gc.ca/e/8668.html
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Minority Health	https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/
Centers for American Indian and Alaska Native Health	http://www.ucdenver.edu/academics/colleges/PublicHealth/research/centers/CAIANH/Pages/CAIANH.aspx
First Nations Health Authority	http://www.fnha.ca/
Indian Health Service	https://www.ihs.gov/
American Indian and Alaska Native Health	https://americanindianhealth.nlm.nih.gov/
United States and Canadian Indigenous organizations	
Assembly of First Nations	http://www.afn.ca/
Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami	https://www.itk.ca/
National Congress of American Indians	http://www.ncai.org/
Native Women's Association of Canada	https://www.nwac.ca/
Alaska Federation of Natives	https://www.nativefederation.org/
North American Youth and Family Center	https://nayapdx.org/about/
Congress of Aboriginal Peoples	http://www.abo-peoples.org/
Métis Nation	http://www.metisnation.ca/
Native Canadian Centre of Toronto	https://ncct.on.ca/
Pauktuutit Inuit Women of Canada	https://www.pauktuutit.ca/
Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium	https://anthc.org/

(Continued)	
Source	Website
Association on American Indian Affairs	https://www.indian-affairs.org/
Administration for Native Americans	https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ana
Northwest Portland Area Indian Health Board	http://www.npaihb.org/
National Indian Council on Aging	https://nicoa.org/
Native American Community Development Institute	https://www.nacdi.org/
Alliance of Colonial Era Tribes	http://www.acet-online.org/
Affiliated Tribes of Northwest Indians	http://www.atntribes.org/
Tribal Alliance of Sovereign Indian Nations	http://www.usetinc.org/
Rocky Mountain Tribal Leaders Council	https://www.rmtlc.org/
Center for Native American Youth	http://www.cnay.org/
National Council of Urban Indian Health	https://www.ncuih.org/index
National Indian Child Welfare Association	https://www.nicwa.org/
National Indian Health Board	http://www.nihb.org/
National Native American EMS Association	http://www.nnaemsa.org/
Indspire	https://indspire.ca/
British Columbia Aboriginal Network on Disability Society	http://www.bcands.bc.ca/links/aboriginal-organizations/
Aboriginal Infant Development Program	http://aidp.bc.ca/
First Nations Health Council	http://fnhc.ca/
National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health	https://www.nccah-ccnsa.ca/en/
Indigenous Physicians Association of Canada	http://www.ipac-amac.ca/
Aboriginal Sexual Health	http://www.aboriginalsexualhealth.ca/index_e.aspx
First Nations Child and Family Caring Society	https://fncaringociety.com/welcome
Health services or health research	
Government of Canada	https://www.canada.ca/
National Institutes of Health	https://www.nih.gov/
New Zealand Ministry of Health	https://www.health.govt.nz/
Health Research Council	http://www.hrc.govt.nz/
Department of Health	http://www.health.gov.au/
Australian Institute of Health and Welfare	https://www.aihw.gov.au/
Canadian Institutes of Health Research	http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services	https://www.hhs.gov/
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality	https://www.ahrq.gov/

<i>(Continued)</i>	
Source	Website
Australian Health Services Research Institute	https://ahsri.uow.edu.au/
Canadian Association for Health Services and Policy Research	https://www.cahspr.ca/
World Health Organization	https://www.who.int/
Primary Health Care Research and Information Service (PHCRIS)	http://www.flinders.edu.au/medicine/sites/general-practice/primary-health-care-research-and-information-service/
Rural, remote, or mobile health research or associations	
Mobile Healthcare Association	http://www.mobilehca.org/
Centre for Rural and Northern Health Research	https://www.cranhr.ca/
Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health	https://sarrah.org.au/
Rural Health Information Hub	https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/
Open access, repositories, or catalogues	
WorldCat	https://www.worldcat.org/
informIT	Through Deakin University
Google	http://www.google.com
Trove	https://trove.nla.gov.au/
ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global	Through Deakin University
OAlster	https://www.oclc.org/en/oaister.html

Appendix III: Data extraction table

DESCRIPTORS					MOBILE PRIMARY HEALTHCARE MODEL					
Authors	Year of publication	Name of mobile health clinic	Service provider	Geographical region	Target population	Services provided	Indigenous community involvement	Evaluation methods	Participant sample	Evaluation outcomes

PROOF